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[
_ SECOND WARD SAVINGS BANWK HABS _
(NOW MITWAUKEE COUNTY HISTORICAL CENTER) Wig
HO-MiLwN,
Location: 910 North Third Street (the site is a triangle \K-

bounded by West Kilbourn and North Plankinton
avenues and North Third Street), Milwaukee,
Milwaukee County, Wisconsin.

Present QOwner: Milwaukee County

Present Occupant: Milwaukee County Historical Center

Present Use: The building houses the collections and exhibits,
library and offices, work and storage rooms of
the Milwaukee County Historical Socilety.

Statement of Erected for the Second Ward Savings Bank in 1911-13,

Significance: and since 1965 it has served as headquarters of the
Milwaukee County Historical Society. This graceful
structure is a fine example of the Neo-classical
revival.

PART 1, HISTORICAL INFORMATION

A. Physical History:

1. Date of erection: 1911I-13, The application for the
building permit (No. 2110) is dated September 27, 1911,
By January 10, 1913, construction was complete, and the
bank opened officially on February 3. It is reported
to have cost approximately $400,000.

2, Architects: Charles Kirchoff and Thomas leslie Rose of
Milwaukee.

3. Original and subsequent owners: In 1928 the Second Ward
Savings Bank, thc original owner, merged with the First
Wisconsin National Bank of Milwaukee, and the building
became the First Wisconsin's Second Ward Office, In
April, 1965, the First Wisconsin donated the structure
to Milwaukee County. The historical society took
possession a few weeks later, and the former bank re-
opened as the Milwaukee County Historical Center in
October, 1966.

4. Builders and suppliers: According to the Milwaukee
Journal for February 3, 1913, the following local firms
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were involved in building and equipping the bank: C. H.
Starke Co., excavation, pilings, foundation; Fuldner Con-
struction Co., construction; Biersach and Niedermeyer Co.,
ventilation system; Phillip Gross Hardware Co., rivets,
nails, and all interior hardware; Matthew Brothers Manu-
facturing Co., woodwork, panelling, office furniture; and
Schuster's, shades, In addition, the Heath-Johnson Co.
of Chicago supplied the cast_iron window frames; the
Remington and Sherman Co, of New York, Philadelphia, and
Boston had the contract for the vaults, safe deposit
boxes, and steel filing cases; the pneumatic tube system
came from the Lamson Co. of Beoston; and the F. Rosenberg
Elevator Co. furnished the sidewalk elevator and book
1ift,

Original plans: The Kirchoff and Rose plans, elevations,
sections, and details are mnow on file at the county his-
torical society, as are drawings and prints of drawings
from three contractors~-the Heath-Johnson Co., Remington
and Sherman Co., and the Lamson Co.

Alterations and additions:

a. 1915 (Building Permit Wo, 1543): The F. Rosenberg
Elevator Co. was retained to move the sidewalk lift
from the north to the south end of the building.

b. 1917 (Permit No. 14273): The permit was issued for
construction of a hollow sidewalk by the Bandtel
Construction Co.

c, 1918 (No. 1647): Once again the location of the
sidewalk elevator was changed,

d, 1919 (No. 1026): The permit records construction of
a balcony at the north end of the interior and
changes in basement partitions. Architects for the
$1,900 project were Kirchoff and Rose; the contractor
was the Clos Construction Co. Work began in February
and was finished in May.

e. 1924 (No. 1492): The mezzanine floor along the east
and west sides of the interior and two new stair-
cases were built, at a total cost of $20,000, between
March and September of this year. Kirchoff and Rose
were the architects; Edward R. Kiesslich was the
contractor,
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f£. 1950-57 (WNos. 40092, 41885, 53976): These permits are
no longer on file, but a summary sheet informs us that
they recorded general renovation of the structure in
1950 and electrical work in 1951 and 1957,

g. 1959 (Nos. 3380, 78991, 250251, 250263): The sidewalk
elevator brake was converted from cable mechanical to
electric by the A, Kieckhefer Elevator Co., and a new
canopy and signs were installed on the exterior by the
Everbrite Electric Service Co. (These signs have since
been removed.)

h., 1961: There are five permits on file relating to the
' installation of air conditioning.

i, Unspecified date(s) before 1965: Portions of the
ceiling were covered with acoustical tile.

j. 1966-67 (MNes, 131158, 152115, 160943, 194435): All
these permits pertain to comnversion of the building
from bank to historical center, Architect for the
$36,500 project, which involved removation of the
structure and basic remodelling, was Gilbert 0.
Grunwald, County Architect, Architectural Division,
Department of Public Works, and the major contractor
was the Thomas H, Bentley and Sons Corporation,

The exterior of the one-time bank has seen no important
modifications, and, beyond extension of the mezzanine
floor, originally limited to the south end of the building,
along the north, east, and west sides, the interior was
changed very little until recent years., Its original
appearance and the disposition of the banking facilities
in 1913 are recorded not only in the architects' drawings
but also in early photographs and such descriptive publi-
cations as the booklet issued by the bank in 1913 and a
Milwaukee Sentinel story for February 2 of the same year.
Since 1965 several partitions in the basement have been
removed and rearranged to create work and storage areas.
On the main floor the bank counters have been taken out,
and the spaces they once defined have become exhibit
areas. Three stairways to the mezzanine have been re-
moved and a new one built at the north end of the vesti-
bule. The rectangular and revolving doors in east and
west entrances have been replaced; the library, an
office, and display spaces have been created on the
mezzanine level. Prints of drawings for the recent re-
modelling are in the society’s collection.
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Sources of Information:

1.

0ld views: There are many fine photos of the exterior,
interior (all three levels), and details in the booklet
published by the Second Ward Savings Bank in 1913, A
photograph of the interior on opening day is in the
county historical society's collection and was published
both in the Merchants and Manufacturers Assaciation
Directory of 1917 and with Joseph E. Uihlein's article
in the Historical Messenger for September, 1965, The
society's collection also includes a 1929 view of the
exterior and neighboring buildings seen from the east,
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Building permits and other records, 1911-1967,
General Qffice, Inspector of Buildings, 1010
Municipal Building, Milwaukee,

Inspection of the building, August 19 and 20, 1969.

Interview with Harry H. Anderson, Executive Director,
Milwaukee County Historical Society, September 3,
1969,

Kirchoff and Rose, "Specifications of the Material
and Labor Required in the Erection of a Bank
Building for Second Ward Savings Bank at West
Water-Cedar-Third Street, Milwaukee, Wis.,"
July, 1911 (the original typewritten manuscript
and one carbon copy are in the collection of the
Milwaukee County Historical Society).
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Prepared by Mary Ellen Wietczykowski
1111 North Astor Street
Milwaukee, Wisconsin
September 3, 1969

Architectural character: - The Second Ward Savings Bank
building is a two-story, monumental stomne structure of
a neo=-classic design erected in 1913, Today it serves
as the Milwaukee County Historical Center.

PART TITI. ARCHITECTURAL INFORMATION
A, General Statement:
1.
2. Condition of fabric: Excellent
B. Description of Exterior:

1.

Over-all dimensioms: It is a two-story wedgeé-shaped
building with the southeast corner rounded. It measures
149 feet 5-3/4 inches on the east (North Plankinton
Avenue side), 152 feet 10-3/4 inches on the west (North
Third Street side), 126 feet on the south (West Kilbourn
Avenue side) and 23 feet 7 inches on the squared north
end.

Foundation: Concrete. The basement walls and piers
are all concrete.

Wall construction: The building bas walls of dressed
buff Bedford limestone set in ashlar comnstruction and
resting upon a visible base course of Barre granite.
The glant order of fluted Ionic columns set upon base
blocks are executed in Bedford limestone., Between
some of the bays there are squared pilasters. There
are nine defined bays on the east facade, nine on the
west, one on the north, and five on the south, The
southeast corner of the building is rounded,

The projecting cornice line is capped by a stone
balustraded parapet. The richly moulded window trim
is executed in cast iron. An abundant growth of ivy
clings to the grayish-brown walls,

Framing: Masontry construction with a stone veneer
covering a common brick core that is reinforced by
iron columns set in the walls.
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5. Chinmeys: Nomne

6. Openings:

a.

Doorways and doors: There are two entrances basically
opposite each other om the east and west facades. A
stone pediment supporting carved consoles surmounts
each door. The door surround is of carved stone with
decorative moldings of acanthus leaves and bead-and-
reel, The entrys are centered in a standard bay of
giant order Tonic columns. The present metal and
glass double doors replace the original exterior
doors and revolving doors. The revolving door spaces
serve as vestibules and have an inner pair of doors
similar to the outer doors,

Windows: All windows have decorative cast-irom
frames and trim, All first-floor windows are uni-
form, consisting of a fixed central light flanked by
slightly narrower, in-swinging casement units, The
first-floor windows have a gently arched and highly
decorative pediment, surmounted by a single palmette
ornament,

The second-floor windows consist of three units in
an overall frame. The center unit is wider than the
adjacent side lights; the vertical divisions repeat
those of the first-floor windows. The center unit
has a large oval light at the top that rests upon
an arched cast-iron bar. Each of the side units are
divided into three sections by two upward curving
cast-iron bars. The lower lights of these units

are in-swinging casement units.

The windows on the first and second floors are
united into a single composition through a two-story,
stone surround with an arched head and a single com-
sole, which acts as a keystone, Those window group-
ings located on the end bays of all facades are
surrounded by a laurel leaf molding and capped with
an ornate cartouche amid a2 garland of oak and acorns.

The basement windows have cast-iron frames with wired
glass lights and are set in window wells that have
an iron grill at grade level,
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Roof: The construction of the roof is reinforced concrete
slabs resting on steel girders topped by a built-up tar
and gravel roof.

C. Description of Interior:

1.

Floor plan: The basement contains the safety deposit
vault -~ now used for storage -- rest rooms, and work
areas.

The south end of the first floor is now given over to
exhibit space and general offices. The original tellers'
window unit with marble facing, decorative cast-iron
grill work and original vault can be seen at the north
end of the building. Other facilities of the original
banking firm have been removed and exhibits occupy

their spaces. A rotunda is defined by a giant order of
columns having pseudo-composite capitals. There are
seven columns on the east and only six on the west. The
center of the column line defines the mezzanine,

The second floor or mezzanine houses the historical
library in addition to exhibit space, The library
occupies the southeast portion of the mezzanine.

Staircases: A central stairway leads from the first
floor to the basement. The enclosure and walls of the
staircase are Pavonazzo marble while the cap or top
rail is of Verde Antique marble, The treads of the
stairs are gray Tennessee marble.

A staircase, assumed not to be original, leads from the
first floor to the west side of the mezzanine, The
mezzanine itself has been extended in remodeling., The
walls of the staircase have a vinyl covering over what
is believed to be plaster. The top cap or rail is
marble.

Flooring: The basement floor is concrete. The main
floor, public area, is gray Tennessee marble in 10" x
20" x 7/8" slabs. The mezzanine floor has been covered
by linoleum, vinyl, and/or carpeting.

Wall and ceiling finish: The walls of the vestibule and
revolving door enclosures are of Pavonazzo marble with
Grecian Green marble base and cove. The walls of the
bank are mostly plastered with a marble base. Display
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walls and exhibit booths are wooden. White oak, birch,
and Mexican mahogany were used for various parts of

the bank's offices, such as in the director's office at
the north end of the first floor -- now sealed off to
the public, and the southeast conference room that is now
converted to general offices and display for the museum,
The window stools and plinths are of gray Tennessee
marble, except in the director’s room and the conference
room where they are Verde Antique marble. The plinths
of the interior giant order columns are also of Verde
Antique marble, The columms themselves are made of
scagliola.

The ceilings are plaster and decorative moulded stucco.

What appears to be the encased bottom portion of girders,
running from the outside walls toc the inner columns, and
also between the columns, has a moulded treatment finished
in French gold and gold inlay. Only part of a moulded
coffered ceiling is wvisible; this is also finished in French
gold inlay, as is all the relief work of the main ceiling,

5. Doors and doorways: No eriginal doorways or trim were
observed,

6. Hardware: Replaced
7. Lighting: Electric
8. Heating: City heat -- steam

D. Site:
The building is situated on a wedge-shaped lot with the
narrow end facing north, The wedge is formed by North
Plankinton Avenue merging with North Third Street; the

south boundary is formed by West Kilbourn Avenue. A
narrow strip of grass separates the building and sidewalk.

Prepared by John N. DeHaas, Jr.
' Supervisory Architect
National Park Service
August 25, 1969

PART II1I. PROJECT INFORMATION

These records were made during the 1969 Milwaukee Project which was
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sponsored by the Historic Americar Buildings Survey, Office of Archae-
ology and Historic Preservation, National Park Service, Department of
the Intericr, and the Milwaukee Landmarks Commission of the City of
Milwaukee, Richard W. E. Perrin, Chairman. The project was done under
the direction of James . Massey, then Chief of HABS, and the team
members included architect John N. DeHaas, Jr. {Montana State Univer-
sity), Project Supervisor, Mary Ellen Wietczykowski--now Mary Ellen
Young~-(Milwaukee Landmarks Commission), Project Historian, and student
architects Larry Hermsen (Iowa State University, Roger Little {Kansas
University), Thomas Sanford (Washington State University), and Donna
Woodrum (Virginia Polytechnic Institute). The data was prepared for
transmittal to the Library of Congress by HABS editors Carolyn R. Heath,
Mary Farrell, Candace Reed and Philip Hamp. Photographs were taken by
HABS staff photographer Jack Boucher.
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